

EXPLANATORY NOTES

Layer hens and pullets

RSPCA APPROVED FARMING SCHEME

© RSPCA Australia 2022

RSPCA Australia PO Box 265 Deakin West ACT 2600

P: 02 6282 8300

- E: <u>science@rspca.org.au</u> W: rspca.org.au



TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
GLOSSARY SECTION	4
ANTIMICROBIAL STEWARDSHIP PLAN	5
TYPE OF LIGHTING	6
PERCHES	7
RAMPS	8
ENVIRONMENTAL ENRICHMENT	9
OUTDOOR AREA	
BIRD OBSERVATION	
EUTHANASIA	
CATCHING AND TRANSPORT SECTION	
SLAUGHTER SECTION	
ON-FARM KILLING SECTION	
PULLET REARING SECTION	
Environment and housing	
Stocking density	
Animal husbandry and management	
GUIDELINES	19
REFERENCES	20



INTRODUCTION

The RSPCA Approved Farming Scheme aims to improve the lives of as many farm animals as possible, today. The Scheme is underpinned by the RSPCA Approved Farming Scheme Standards (the Standards) which set out species-specific animal welfare requirements designed to meet the animal's behavioural and physiological needs and assist the industry in improving and demonstrating good welfare outcomes. The RSPCA Standards take into account RSPCA policy, current scientific literature, animal welfare legislation, producer advice, and good industry practice.

RSPCA Australia is currently reviewing the <u>RSPCA Approved Farming Scheme Standard - Layer hens</u> and the <u>RSPCA Approved Farming Scheme Standard - Pullets</u>. To date the review process has sought initial feedback from stakeholders, including Producers, Licensees and the RSPCA Australia Certification Body, on the current 2015 version of the Standards. The current voluntary RSPCA Approved Farming Scheme Standard - Pullets has now been included in the revised RSPCA Approved Farming Scheme Standard - Layer hens consultation draft as a mandatory section for Producers under the Scheme who own and rear pullets.

Where there have been significant changes proposed to the Standard, information and rationale for the changes and the animal welfare impacts has been provided in these Explanatory Notes.



GLOSSARY SECTION

Change: Inclusion of a new glossary section at the end of the Standard.

Proposed addition: Glossary section.

Certain words and phrases that are bolded throughout the Standard have been defined in the glossary to assist in making the intent of the requirement/s of the relevant standard clause clearer. Having this additional guidance also helps assist the RSPCA Australia Certification Body when assessing conformance with the Standard.



ANTIMICROBIAL STEWARDSHIP PLAN

Change: Inclusion of an Antimicrobial Stewardship Plan where antimicrobials are used.

Proposed addition: Clause 2.08 a - h

2.08 Where antimicrobials are used, an Antimicrobial Stewardship Plan must:

a) be completed and implemented

b) specify current type, quantity and nature (therapeutic or preventative) of antimicrobial use in a format to be agreed with by RSPCA Australia

c) consider available evidence of antimicrobial resistance in the Australian layer hen flock d) specify a year-on-year strategy which considers the reduction, refinement and/or replacement of preventative antimicrobial use

e) specify husbandry, management strategies and any alternative preventative treatments, where used, to manage disease risk during any planned reduction, refinement and/or replacement of antimicrobials

f) be reviewed on an annual basis in order to inform the following year's strategy

g) be authorised by the designated registered veterinarian

h) be provided to RSPCA Australia as part of the Veterinary Health Plan.

Antimicrobials in farm animal production are agents used to prevent or treat the growth of microorganisms including bacteria, viruses, fungi and parasites. Some of the diseases relevant to layer hens include *Escherichia coli*, *Mycoplasma spp.*, *Salmonella spp.*, *Campylobacter hepaticus*, *Pasteurella multocida* and *Coccidiosis* infections (Trott et al. 2019; Groves et al. 2021).

Prolonged and inappropriate use of antimicrobials can lead to them becoming ineffective over time as the microorganisms they are intended to target develop resistance to the drugs (Hao et al. 2014; APVMA 2017). Due to the development of resistance to antimicrobials, there is growing pressure worldwide to reduce the use of antimicrobials drugs. In addition to this, the risk factors associated with diseases such as coccidiosis include stress, overcrowding, wet litter, poor hygiene, insufficient feed, and changes in diet. Alternative strategies to reduce reliance on antimicrobial use include optimising housing environment, appropriate nutrition, minimising stress to animals, improving diagnostics and implementing vaccines where applicable (Knoblock-Hahn et al. 2016).

The World Health Organisation and the Australian Strategic and Technical Advisory Group provide expert guidance on the use of certain classes of antimicrobials and their relative importance in human medicine. The introduction of an Antimicrobial Stewardship Plan into the Standard for layer hens encourages the judicious use of antimicrobials, considering any evidence of resistance to antimicrobials, management strategies to reduce the need for antimicrobials, and the ultimate aim of reducing the reliance on antimicrobials over time.

Reducing antimicrobial use may be done in many ways, including:

- Reducing the risk of disease risk factors for disease include stress, immune suppression, high stocking densities, poor hygiene and biosecurity, litter condition, group size, and air quality. Therefore, optimising the environment and minimising stress through best practice handling and health management practices is essential for minimising the risk of disease within a flock (Knoblock-Hahn et al. 2016).
- 2) The use of alternative treatments alternatives to antimicrobial drugs that have shown promise in the poultry industry include probiotics, prebiotics, symbiotics, polyphenols, organic acids, essential oils, enzymes, immunostimulants, and phytogenic (phytobiotic) feed additives (Scicutella et al. 2021; Abd El-Hack et al. 2022).
- Responsible use of antimicrobials recording and reporting of use, and antimicrobial stewardship plans are important in encouraging responsible use of antimicrobials while ensuring bird health and welfare.



TYPE OF LIGHTING

Change: Artificial lighting must not consist of only a single or limited wavelength and must provide at least the broad spectrum visible to humans.

Proposed addition: Clause 5.22

5.22 Artificial lighting, unless during catching, must:a) provide at least the broad spectrum visible to humansb) not be monochromatic in wavelength.

The type of lighting used can have an impact on hen welfare. Layer hens have a broad colour sensitivity that extends to the UV spectrum (Nicol et al. 2017). This means that, with full spectrum lights, hens that appear uniformly coloured to the human eye may appear to have mixed colouring or markings to other hens. Natural sunlight, which provides full spectrum including UVA and UVB wavelengths, provided through windows or with outdoor range access, has been shown to be beneficial for hens' health and welfare (Janczak and Riber 2015; Wichman et al. 2021). Where natural light is not provided, LED lighting may have welfare advantage in that full-spectrum LED contains UVA and UVB lighting. The provision of UVA and UVB wavelengths have been found to be beneficial for bone growth and health in hens (Rana et al. 2021). The addition of UV lighting may also provide behavioural benefits decreasing measures of fear and stress in hens (Sobotik et al. 2020).

While there is a growing amount of research exploring the effects of the type and colour of lighting on the welfare of hens, there remains a number of gaps. Until further information is available, or evidence suggests otherwise, the intent of the new requirement in the Standard is to provide hens lighting that most closely resembles full spectrum natural light and prevent the use of monochromatic lighting.



PERCHES

Change: Increased perch space requirement and detail on construction and position of perches. Clauses 3.42 and 3.43 in the current Standard.

Proposed amendment: Clauses 5.28 and 5.29

- 5.28 Perches in the laying facility must be provided at a minimum length of 150m per 1000 birds based on shed placement number.
- 5.29 Perches must be constructed and positioned to:
 a) be evenly distributed throughout the shed
 b) have rounded edges and provide a solid flat surface
 c) have a minimum width of 3cm and support birds' keel bone and whole foot
 d) be raised at least 60cm above the floor
 e) have a minimum height of 20cm clearance above.

Perching and resting on elevated structures is a highly motivated and natural behaviour for poultry. Layer hens perch usage varies during daytime, however, almost all hens will use perches to roost at night when provided the opportunity (Nicol et al. 2017). Hens will use perches to rest, monitor the surrounding environment, escape other hens, and facilitate thermoregulation (EFSA, 2015).

Perch design is critical to encourage hens to use and benefit from perches (EFSA, 2015). Hens' physical ability to jump and navigate perches should be considered to minimise the risk of injuries occurring, such as keel bone fractures. Perches that require hens to jump >80cm (horizontally, vertically or diagonally) or at an angle between 45 and 90° (measured at the horizontal plane) have been shown to increase the risk of injury (EFSA, 2015).

Other aspects of perch design which should be considered to minimise the risk of injury include the perch material, shape, width and height. Current research findings suggest the ideal perch design to be wooden, square or rectangular in shape, covered by pliable material at body contact points, and of appropriate width for hens to balance while reducing the force placed on their keel bone and feet (EFSA, 2015). Hens' perch use is reduced when perch width is <1.5cm and hens show a preference for rectangular perches >3cm in width (Chen et al. 2014). Perch heights >60cm from the floor have been shown to encourage perching, and perches above >80cm particularly for night-time roosting (Newberry et al. 2001; Brendler et al. 2014). Additionally, the provision of stepped perches, ramps and other elevated structures should be considered to account for hens' varying physical and navigational ability (EFSA, 2015).

To ensure hens have adequate room to simultaneously perch, current research suggests a minimum of 15cm of perch space per hen (EFSA, 2015). There also appears to be breed differences in space requirement, with brown strain hens occupying more space than white strains when perching (Riddle et al. 2018; Giersberg et al. 2019). The increased requirement for a minimum of 150m perching length per 1000 birds (i.e., 15cm per bird) and the requirements for perch design in the Standard are intended to ensure that hens are encouraged to use perches and have the opportunity to perch simultaneously.



RAMPS

Change: Inclusion of a new requirement for ramps in tiered systems.

Proposed addition: Clauses 5.30 and 5.31

- 5.30 For tiered systems, birds must have access to ramps in the laying facility shed, unless during catching or preparation for catching or where temporary removal is required for litter maintenance.
- 5.31 Ramps must be constructed and positioned to:
 a) be of a minimal slope to allow birds to walk up and down the ramp with normal gait
 b) provide a continuous surface
 c) provide a non-slip surface.

Ramp provision in addition to perching can help reduce the incidence of injuries and keel bone fractures in layer hens. Particularly in complex multi-tiered laying facilities (e.g., aviary housing systems) ramps can help with learning and transitions between tiers (Stratmann et al. 2015; Pettersson et al. 2017a). Hens that are provided ramps, especially if provided during rearing, show improved ability to navigate more complex environments, improved bone and leg health, and a reduced number of falls and collisions during their lifetime (Stratmann et al. 2015). Ramps may also be beneficial for hens' footpad and leg health. Hens with access to ramps have been shown to have lower rates of foot and leg-related disorders, such as footpad hyperkeratosis, footpad dermatitis and bumble foot, compared to hens without ramps (Heerkens et al. 2016a).

As with perches, the design is critical to ensure hens can navigate and benefit from ramps. Continuous gridded ramps (compared to ladder rung ramps) and ramp inclines between 40 and 70° encourage ramp use and allow for easier navigation (Pettersson et al. 2017a; Widowski and Torrey 2017; Norman et al. 2021). Having appropriate inclines and slopes of ramps can also be beneficial for improving muscle and bone strength, which in turn could contribute to decreasing the risk of keel bone fractures later in life.

The requirement for ramp provision in the Standard is intended to improve the welfare of hens in tiered systems while also helping to reduce the risk of injuries and keel bone fractures.



ENVIRONMENTAL ENRICHMENT

Change: Increased number and type of environmental enrichment requirement. Clauses 3.44 and 3.45 in the current Standard.

Proposed amendment: Clause 5.32

5.32 Birds in the laying facility must be provided with:
a) at least two different types of environmental enrichment objects
b) a minimum of two environmental enrichment objects for every 1000 birds based on laying facility shed placement number.

Environmental enrichment improves layer hens' environment by increasing the opportunities for hens to perform highly motivated behaviours. Highly motivated behaviours in hens include nesting in nests, perching, dust bathing and foraging (Hemsworth and Edwards 2021).

Enrichment for hens can include visual stimulation (e.g., colours, patterns and different structuralshaped areas), cognitive enrichment (e.g., problem solving and complex spatial navigation tasks), auditory stimuli (e.g., music and maternal calls), objects (e.g., pecking devices and novel objects), and positive human-animal interaction (Campbell et al. 2019). To ensure hens can benefit from enrichment it should be provided during rearing and within the first 2 weeks of life (Campbell et al. 2019).

Where hens are housed in barren environments with inadequate resources and enrichment provision, it can lead to the development of abnormal and aggressive behaviours suggesting negative welfare outcomes. Feather pecking is a particular behaviour of major concern in layer hens. While the cause of feather pecking is multi-factorial and complex, the provision of enrichment and litter substrate from an early age has been shown to reduce feather pecking and feather damage in hens later in life(Schreiter et al. 2019; van Staaveren et al. 2021). Therefore, the provision of pecking and foraging enrichment may be one effective management strategy for managing and preventing problematic feather pecking behaviour (van Staaveren et al. 2021).

The proposed requirement to increase the amount and type of environmental enrichment in the Standard aims to ensure hens are provided with an adequate number of suitable enrichment objects, which are introduced at an early age to ensure all hens have the opportunity to utilise and experience the benefits of an enriched environment.



OUTDOOR AREA

Change: Change to outdoor stocking density requirement. Increased amount of overhead cover and detail on construction and position. Clauses 5.08, 6.08 and 6.04 in the current Standard.

Proposed amendment and addition: Clauses 7.04, 7.07 and 7.087.04 A maximum of 2,500 birds per ha of outdoor area must be available to birds.

- 7.05 The outdoor area must be designed and actively managed and maintained to:
 - a) encourages birds to dustbathe and forage
 - b) provide palatable vegetation
 - c) provide overhead cover
 - d) be well drained to avoid muddiness and the accumulation of water
 - e) control disease and parasites
 - f) avoid injury or mortality
 - g) minimise the risk of fire.
- 7.07 At least 75m² of overhead cover per 1000 birds based on the laying facility shed placement number must be provided.
- 7.08 Overhead cover must be:
 - a) first located <20m from any opening to the outdoor area
 - b) distributed evenly across the total available outdoor area
 - c) of sufficient height for birds to stand under it using normal posture
 - d) constructed, placed and maintained to encourage bird use.

Having an appropriate outdoor stocking density where hens are provided enough space can help encourage layer hens to use the outdoor area in free-range housing systems. The previous outdoor stocking density requirement was set to be consistent with the *Model Code of Practice for the Welfare of Animals: Domestic Poultry (2002)*. The Australian Consumer Law (Free Range Egg Labelling) Information Standard 2017 allows eggs to be labelled 'free range' if hens are provided 'meaningful and regular access' outdoors with a maximum stocking density of 10,000 hens per ha. Other countries, such as the European Union and New Zealand have a legal maximum outdoor stocking density of 2,500 hens per ha (Office of the European Union 1999; National Animal Welfare Advisory Committee 2012).

Increased space allowance outdoors provides hens' more opportunities to move freely and perform motivated behaviours outdoors, however, there is currently no evidence indicating an ideal outdoor stocking density for hens and large commercial flocks do not appear to simultaneously range together (Campbell et al. 2017). The ideal outdoor stocking density for hens will depend on several factors, including the range quality, weather conditions, flock size, rearing experience, and individual hen differences (Campbell et al. 2017).

Improving the overall attractiveness of the outdoor range is important to ensuring that hens may receive the welfare benefits that can be provided by a free-range system. The overall quality of the range, such as the amount of overhead cover and enrichment, also appears to be of equal importance to space allowance in encouraging hens to use an outdoor area. Outdoor areas with overhead cover (e.g., shade and shelter) and enrichment (e.g., hay bales) have been shown to increase the number and amount of time hens spend ranging outdoors (Nagle and Glatz 2012; Larsen et al. 2017; Thuy Diep et al. 2018; de Koning et al. 2019).

The number of hens that choose to use an outdoor area also varies depending on the time of day and season, with hens during the hot summer months in some areas of Australia preferring to remain inside for most of the time (Nagle and Glatz 2012; Chielo et al. 2016). A minimum of 5% good/dense overhead cover (through tree coverage) has been suggested, however this finding was from research in the UK and therefore may not be fully applicable to Australian climatic conditions (Bright et al. 2011). Rotating range areas is an example of good range management, allowing

vegetation cover and insect availability to be maintained, while controlling disease and parasites, and ensuring the range remains attractive for hens.

The proposed change to the Standard has increased the outdoor stocking density after taking into consideration current constraints of commercial production systems, while still ensuring hens have adequate space outdoors and increasing the requirements for the quality of the outdoor range. The additional requirements on range quality and the amount of overhead cover in the Standard is to ensure hens are encouraged to use the outdoor range and are adequately protected from climatic conditions.



BIRD OBSERVATION

Change: Increased bird observations and monthly flock assessment requirements. Clauses 7.09, 7.10, 8.11 and 8.12 in the current Standard.

Proposed amendment: Clauses 9.03 and 9.05

9.03 Birds must be observed at least three times in every 24-hour period. Where abnormal observations occur, action must be taken and recorded for:
a) appearance, vocalisations and behaviour, including feather cleanliness, wounds and aggression
b) injurious pecking, including feather cover
c) keel bone fractures.

9.05 A sample of birds representative of the flock per shed, must be assessed every four weeks from the day of placement in the laying facility shed for:

a) feather cover

b) feather cleanliness

c) keel bone fractures.

Routine on-farm animal welfare assessments can be used to complement daily shed inspections, strengthen self-responsibility of the farm manager, improve transparency and be used as a basis for benchmarking within and between farms (EFSA, 2012; Zapf et al. 2017). Routine assessment also supports continuous improvement to animal welfare and allows for early intervention before issues becomes unmanageable or adversely impact hens (EFSA, 2012). Outcome-based measures (OBMs) are increasingly being used to assess poultry welfare on farm in place of or in combination with resource-based measures (RBMs). RBMs such as access to food and water, litter condition and air quality, have traditionally been the main indicators used to assess animal welfare as they are easy to record and highly repeatable (Blatchford 2017). However, there are significant limitations to relying only on an assessment of the environment or system, as opposed to including characteristics of the hens' physical health and behaviour (Butterworth 2018). OBMs that have been validated and are repeatable and practical to assess on farm should be used where possible (Butterworth 2018).

For layer hens, critical outcome-based measures include feather coverage, feather cleanliness and the incidence of keel bone fractures. Feather cover assessments and signs of injuries can be used as early warning signs or as evidence of feather pecking and aggressive behaviours in hens. The cause of feather pecking is complex and multifactorial however it is generally considered to indicate poor welfare from inappropriate management or environmental conditions. The Standard glossary definition for feather coverage is based on the FeatherWel feather scoring system for signs of injurious pecking (FeatherWel 2022). When feather scoring, including observations for feather loss on the head or signs of head/comb trauma could be useful for indicating the level of aggressive behaviours occurring within a flock.

Feather cleanliness can be used to assess the effectiveness of litter management, perch and nest maintenance, and the prevention of manure build-up or drop-through in a shed. Based on a visual assessment of hens, it can be assumed that if there is a significant number of hens with extremely dirty feathers then litter and shed cleanliness is not being managed appropriately. The Standard glossary definition for feather cleanliness has been based on AssureWel's 3-point scoring system for feather cleanliness (AssureWel 2022).

Keel bone fractures cause pain and can affect hens' ability to move and perform normal behaviours, such as nesting and perching (Rufener and Makagon 2020; Campbell 2020). Keel bone injuries and fractures are considered a serious welfare concern for hens due to the high incidence rate in commercial housing systems. Different methods have been used to assess keel bone fractures, such as palpation, dissection, radiography, and computed tomography (Rufener and Makagon 2020). Palpation remains the most practical on-farm method and focusing on the bottom 1/3 of the keel bone during palpation can help improve the accuracy, as well as increased training and experience (Petrik et al. 2013). The Standard glossary definition for keel bone fractures is based on the scoring systems developed by Petrik et al. (2013) with the focus of assessment on the bottom 1/3 of the keel bone.



EUTHANASIA

Change: Inclusion of new requirements when performing one of the permitted methods for euthanasia, which include captive bolt device, carbon dioxide controlled atmosphere killing, and manual cervical dislocation.

Proposed addition: Clauses 11.07, 11.08, 11.09, 11.10, 11.11 and 11.12

When euthanasia is performed in a manner that does not result in rapid loss of consciousness followed by death, hens are at risk of experiencing prolonged pain, discomfort, stress or injury (Farm Animal Welfare Council 2017). Some of the risks associated with euthanasia include the suitability of the technique or method used, the amount of restraint required, maintenance and function of equipment, training and competency of the operator, health status of the hen and timely confirmation of death.

Manual cervical dislocation has traditionally been the most common euthanasia method for poultry on farm, however there are growing concerns that the method does not result in immediate loss of consciousness (Humane Slaughter Association 2013; Sparrey et al. 2014; Farm Animal Welfare Council 2017). Some countries, including the European Union and Canada, and other animal welfare certification schemes, now only permit manual cervical dislocation for birds <3kg liveweight and where more humane methods are unavailable (Office of the European Union 2009; National Farm Animal Care Council 2016). Performing the correct cervical dislocation procedure is difficult, especially for very small pullets or larger hens, so consideration should always be given to the size of the bird (Linares et al. 2018; Martin et al. 2018). Cervical dislocation using a hard edge or sharp object is not considered humane because there is a high risk of the spinal cord being crushed causing death by asphyxia rather than death by cerebral ischemia (Farm Animal Welfare Council 2017).

Non-penetrating captive bolt guns are a suitable alternative euthanasia method to cervical dislocation. The use of non-penetrating captive bolt devices has been demonstrated effectively in a number of poultry species, including chickens, turkeys and ducks (Erasmus et al. 2010; Woolcott et al. 2018; Bandara et al. 2019; Jacobs et al. 2019; Baker-Cook et al. 2021; Stiewert and Archer 2021). The correct positioning and angle, bolt diameter, velocity, and airline pressure (or cartridge strength) are all critical factors to ensure captive bolt devices are effective at causing death (EFSA 2004).

Carbon dioxide controlled atmosphere killing on farm may also be a suitable alternative to cervical dislocation, where appropriate equipment and non-aversive gas concentrations are used (EFSA 2019a). Producers looking to install controlled atmosphere killing systems should be guided by a suitably qualified practitioner to ensure the system is fit for purpose and appropriate safeguards are included in the design such as gas concentration alarms and monitoring equipment, opportunity for visual observation, as well as regular calibration to ensure only suitable gas mixtures are used.

To minimise suffering and distress, any bird identified as needing to be euthanased must be done so promptly. In addition to this, regardless of the euthanasia method birds must be checked to confirm the procedure has been effective in causing death and it is essential that operators are trained and competent in identifying signs to confirm death (Farm Animal Welfare Council 2017; Linares et al. 2018). The proposed additional requirements for euthanasia methods in the Standard aims to ensure that the euthanasia of birds can be performed promptly when required and that any prolonged and unnecessary suffering is prevented.



CATCHING AND TRANSPORT SECTION

Change: The catching and transport section of the Standard will now be routinely assessed. Section 10 and 11 in the current Standard.

Proposed amendment: Section 12, 12.01 to 12.20

There are a number of animal welfare concerns and unavoidable stressors associated with the catching and transport of layer hens. Hens likely experience increased levels of stress and fear during catching, due to unfamiliar people and equipment in the shed, handling, unfamiliar noises, removal of feed and water, and the removal of perches/ramps and environmental enrichment (Nicol et al. 2017; Gerpe et al. 2021). Hens are also at an increased risk of experiencing injuries and fractures when being handled, as well as during catching and transportation. Catching hens by two legs and carrying them upright, rather than by one leg and upside down may minimise the likelihood of injuries and fractures (Gerpe et al. 2021).

During transport, thermal conditions and transport distances are the two main factors that impact hen welfare. Mortalities during transport increase with increasing transport time and distance, with research suggesting dead on arrivals increase with transport times >2 hours and distances >50km (Weeks et al. 2016; di Martino et al. 2017; Vecerkova et al. 2019; Çavuşoğlu and Petek 2021; Frerichs et al. 2021). Risk factors including poor feather cover, lower body weight, and higher flock morality numbers have all been associated with increased mortality during transport (Weeks et al. 2016; Beaulac et al. 2020). Cold temperatures have also been shown to increase transport mortalities (Weeks et al. 2012; Çavuşoğlu and Petek 2021).

The catching and transport section in the Standard will now be subject to routine assessment with the intent to minimise the negative welfare impacts that may occur during catching and transportation of layer hens.



SLAUGHTER SECTION

Change: The slaughter section of the Standard will now be routinely assessed. Section 12 in the current Standard.

Proposed amendment: Section 13, 13.01 to 13.40

When layer hens are no longer considered commercially viable, they are either transported to an abattoir for slaughter or killed on farm.

Electrical waterbath stunning is one of the stunning methods used for poultry at slaughter in Australia. This stunning system requires poultry to be shackled and inverted while conscious. Inversion during shackling is a physiologically abnormal position for poultry, and they likely experience pain and distress due to the compression of the metal shackle on their legs (Gentle and Tilston 2000). The experience of pain and suffering during shackling is amplified for poultry with poor leg health and those suffering injuries as a result of the catching or transport process (Gentle and Tilston 2000; Humane Slaughter Association 2015; EFSA 2019b). Shackling lines, surrounding structures and equipment must be fit for the purpose of processing layer hens. Poor contact between the shackles and the legs is a welfare concern as it results in increased electrical resistance in the system and may result in hens receiving an ineffective stun (EFSA 2019b). To help overcome this, shackles should be well maintained and wet at the leg-shackle contact area prior to the shackling of the hens (Humane Slaughter Association 2015).

For electrical waterbath stunning systems to effectively render poultry unconscious for the duration of bleed out prior to death, the use of appropriate electrical parameters (e.g., frequency and current applied per hen) is critical (Humane Slaughter Association 2015; EFSA 2019b). There are a number of variables which influence an effective current being delivered to each hen, including the number of hens in the water bath, individual size, body muscle and fat content, plumage condition, shackle condition and tightness, and water composition (Humane Slaughter Association 2015). It is therefore critical to maintain, monitor and routinely assess stunning effectiveness and make timely adjustments when needed to safeguard animal welfare and prevent hens from suffering (Humane Slaughter Association 2015).

Controlled atmosphere stunning (CAS) systems have several advantages over electrical waterbath stunning, one of which is that poultry can be stunned without the need for physical handling or shackling while conscious (EFSA 2004; Berg and Raj 2015). In CAS systems, poultry are moved into the stunning module in their transport crates or transferred onto a conveyer belt which moves them into the stunner, the former being preferred as there may be welfare issues associated with emptying hens onto the conveyer (Berg and Raj 2015). Unlike electrical stunning, CAS systems do not cause immediate loss of consciousness, instead unconsciousness is achieved gradually as a result of exposure to carbon dioxide or various gas combinations (Berg and Raj 2015). Non-aversive gas mixtures and concentrations should be used to minimise stress, gasping and the sense of breathlessness prior to loss of consciousness. Where carbon dioxide gas is used, hens should first be exposed to low concentrations and only exposed to higher concentrations (\geq 40%) once they have lost consciousness (Berg and Raj 2015; EFSA 2019b).

The slaughter section in the Standard will now be subject to routine assessment with the intent to minimise the negative welfare impacts to layer hens at slaughter.



ON-FARM KILLING SECTION

Change: Inclusion of a new section for on-farm killing of layer hens at depopulation.

Proposed addition: Section 14, 14.01 to 14.06

When layer hens are no longer considered commercially viable, they are either transported to an abattoir for slaughter or killed and disposed of on farm. For on-farm killing, if the chosen method does not result in rapid loss of consciousness followed by death, birds may experience prolonged pain, discomfort, stress or injury (Farm Animal Welfare Council 2017). The chosen method also needs to consider that on-farm killing usually involves the killing of a large number of hens or the entire flock at one time.

Where non-penetrating captive bolt devices are used for on-farm killing, the correct positioning and angle, bolt diameter, velocity, and airline pressure (or cartridge strength) are all critical factors to ensure they are effective at causing death (EFSA 2004). When killing a large number of birds, staff capacity, competency and risk of operator fatigue must also be considered.

Controlled atmosphere killing systems currently use carbon dioxide gas for on-farm killing (EFSA 2019a). However, with advances in research, there is the possibility in the future of these systems using less aversive gases, such as inert gases (e.g., argon and nitrogen gas), which could provide welfare advantages. Where carbon dioxide gas is used, the system must be fit for purpose with appropriate safeguards in place and use non-aversive gas concentrations while hens are conscious.

Due to the large number of hens being killed during on-farm killing at depopulation, it is critical that the method's effectiveness is confirmed by confirming death in hens. In the event any hen is found to be ineffectively killed, an appropriate back-up killing method must be applied immediately to ensure death. The new on-farm killing section in the Standard is intended to minimise the negative welfare impacts to layer hens that may occur during on-farm killing at depopulation.



PULLET REARING SECTION

Change: Inclusion of a new section with mandatory requirements for rearing pullets where Producers own and rear pullets. Previous requirements for pullets were covered the voluntary RSPCA Approved Farming Scheme Standard - Pullets (2015).

Proposed addition: Section 15, 15.01 to 15.12

Environment and housing

Housing pullets in rearing systems that are the same or similar to their intended laying facility has been shown to improve pullets' adaptability following transfer (Colson et al. 2008; Janczak and Riber 2015).

Chicks begin using litter for foraging and dust bathing behaviours in the first few weeks of life. Providing good quality friable litter within the first 4 weeks of life has been demonstrated to reduce the development of feather pecking behaviour in pullets (Janczak and Riber 2015; Campbell et al. 2019; Schreiter et al. 2019). Additionally, reducing litter provision during rearing even if only briefly, can have negative effects on feather condition and contribute to increased incidence of feather pecking behaviours (Schreiter et al. 2019).

For lighting, chicks are routinely housed at higher light intensities (>20lux) and near-continuous photoperiods the first few days after placement to help them find food and water. However, daily periods of darkness (i.e., dark brooding), like the light/dark pattern they would naturally experience, may be beneficial for chicks (Widowski BS et al. 2013). Dark brooding has been shown to improve feather condition, decrease fearfulness, and reduce the incidence of severe feather pecking and cannibalism (Widowski BS et al. 2013; Janczak and Riber 2015; Riber and Guzman 2017; Jongman and Jongman 2021). Light intensities of >10 lux during the light period appears important to ensure pullets can successfully navigate their environment and avoid the risk of injuries and fractures (Chew et al. 2021).

Pullets first begin perching between 7-10 days of age during the day and begin nighttime roosting at around 3-6 weeks of age. The height and simultaneous use of perches continues to increase as pullets age from 3-18 weeks of age, resulting in an increased perch space requirement. Providing pullets with perches before 8 weeks of age can increase bone mineralisation and strength; improve adaptability and spatial navigation; and decrease the incidence of keel bone injuries and fractures after transfer to laying facilities (Janczak and Riber 2015; Regmi et al. 2015; Heerkens et al. 2016b; Casey-Trott et al. 2017; Pufall et al. 2021). Pullets with perches during rearing can also be expected to have higher perch usage in laying facilities compared to pullets without previous perch experience. In free-range systems, perches during rearing can help encourage greater outdoor range use following transfer to the laying facility (Campbell et al. 2018, 2021a, b; Bari et al. 2020).

In addition to perches, ramp provision for pullets has been shown to decrease hesitancy behaviours and incidences of keel bone injuries and fractures after transfer to the laying facility (Heerkens et al. 2016a; Pettersson et al. 2017b, a; Norman et al. 2018, 2021). Pullets between 2-5 weeks of age have been shown to climb and perch on inclined surfaces, such as platforms and ramps. Provision of ramps at 3 weeks of age has also been shown to increase pullets' use of ramps when they are older at 12-14 weeks of age (Norman et al. 2018).

Environmental enrichment during rearing in addition to litter, perches and ramps can be beneficial for the behavioural and physical development of pullets (Campbell et al. 2019). Enrichment should ideally be provided at placement or within the first 2 weeks of life due to this being a critical period of pullet brain development (Campbell et al. 2019). Enrichment strategies can include visual stimulation (e.g., colours, patterns and different structural-shaped areas), cognitive enrichment (e.g., problem solving and complex spatial navigation tasks), auditory stimuli (e.g., music and maternal calls), objects (e.g., pecking devices and novel objects), positive human-animal interaction(Campbell et al. 2019). Pecking devices and/or objects in addition to litter seem particularly beneficial in preventing the development of feather pecking and cannibalism behaviours later in life (Schreiter et al. 2019; van Staaveren et al. 2021).



Stocking density

Although there is limited research comparing pullet stocking densities, it is critical that pullets are provided adequate room to move and walk around freely and escape other pullets. Higher stocking densities at rearing have been associated with higher rates of feather pecking and feather damage(Jongman and Jongman 2021). Based on floor space and body mass calculation, as well as breed guidelines, the maximum stocking density recommendations vary from 9-15 birds/m² depending on the breed and strain of hen (Widowski BS et al. 2013; Jongman and Jongman 2021).

Animal husbandry and management

Beak trimming is associated with several major welfare concerns including acute and chronic pain, risk of infection, loss of sensory receptors in the beak, and impairment of function for eating and body maintenance behaviours(Glatz and Underwood 2021). However, it remains routine practice in layer hens because it is considered the only reliable method for preventing feather pecking and cannibalism outbreaks within flocks. Infrared beak trimming in day-old chicks is associated with less welfare concerns compared to hot blade trimming methods, and therefore preferable (Glatz and Underwood 2021). Where beak trimming occurs, it must be accurate to prevent malformation or neuroma formation, as well as remove the smallest amount of beak necessary to ensure retrimming is not required(Glatz and Underwood 2021). Producers should also continue to implement alternative management strategies to prevent feather pecking with the ultimate aim of eventually phasing out the need for beak trimming.



GUIDELINES

Change: Inclusion of new guidelines in the Standard.

Proposed addition: Guidelines have been included in Section 9 (animal husbandry and management, Section 11 (euthanasia), Section 13 (slaughter) and Section 15 (rearing of pullets).

Guidelines have been included throughout the Standard to highlight alternative practices which will continue to be monitored in the animal welfare literature and considered for inclusion in future revisions of the Standard. While the guidelines are not mandatory, they indicate the potential direction of change that may be made in future revisions to the Standard to continue improving animal welfare outcomes.



REFERENCES

Abd El-Hack ME, El-Saadony MT, Salem HM, et al (2022) Alternatives to antibiotics for organic poultry production: types, modes of action and impacts on bird's health and production. Poultry Science 101:101696. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PSJ.2022.101696

APVMA (2017) Antibiotic resistance in animals A report for the APVMA

- AssureWel (2022) Laying Hen Welfare Outcome Assessment Explanation of measures Feather Loss Why is feather loss important?
- Baker-Cook B, Torrey S, Widowski TM, et al (2021) The efficacy of three on-farm euthanasia methods for broiler chickens throughout the production cycle. British Poultry Science 62:638-649. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071668.2021.1921109
- Bandara RMAS, Torrey S, Turner P v., et al (2019) Anatomical Pathology, Behavioral, and Physiological Responses Induced by Application of Non-penetrating Captive Bolt Devices in Layer Chickens. Front Vet Sci 6:. https://doi.org/10.3389/FVETS.2019.00089
- Bari MS, Cohen-Barnhouse AM, Campbell DLM (2020) Early rearing enrichments influenced nest use and egg quality in free-range laying hens. Animal 14:1249-1257. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731119003094
- Beaulac K, Crowe TG, Schwean-Lardner K (2020) Simulated transport of well- and poor-feathered brown-strain end-of-cycle hens and the impact on stress physiology, behavior, and meat quality. Poultry Science 99:6753-6763. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PSJ.2020.09.051
- Berg C, Raj M (2015) A Review of Different Stunning Methods for Poultry-Animal Welfare Aspects (Stunning Methods for Poultry). Animals (Basel) 5:1207-1219. https://doi.org/10.3390/ANI5040407
- Blatchford RA (2017) ANIMAL BEHAVIOR AND WELL-BEING SYMPOSIUM: Poultry welfare assessments: Current use and limitations. J Anim Sci 95:1382-1387. https://doi.org/10.2527/JAS.2016.0957
- Brendler C, Kipper S, Schrader L (2014) Vigilance and roosting behaviour of laying hens on different perch heights. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 157:93-99. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPLANIM.2014.06.004
- Bright A, Brass D, Clachan J, et al (2011) Canopy cover is correlated with reduced injurious feather pecking in commercial flocks of free-range laying hens
- Butterworth A (2018) Welfare assessment of poultry on farm. Advances in Poultry Welfare 113-130. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100915-4.00006-3
- Campbell DLM (2020) Skeletal health of layers across all housing systems and future research directions for Australia. Animal Production Science 61:883-892. https://doi.org/10.1071/AN19578
- Campbell DLM, Bari MS, Rault JL (2021a) Free-range egg production: its implications for hen welfare. Animal Production Science 61:848-855. https://doi.org/10.1071/AN19576
- Campbell DLM, de Haas EN, Lee C (2019) A review of environmental enrichment for laying hens during rearing in relation to their behavioral and physiological development. Poultry Science 98:9-28. https://doi.org/10.3382/PS/PEY319
- Campbell DLM, Hinch GN, Downing JA, Lee C (2017) Outdoor stocking density in free-range laying hens: Effects on behaviour and welfare. Animal 11:1036-1045. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731116002342
- Campbell DLM, Hinch GN, Downing JA, Lee C (2018) Early enrichment in free-range laying hens: Effects on ranging behaviour, welfare and response to stressors. Animal 12:575-584. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731117001859
- Campbell DLM, Whitten JM, Slater E, Lee C (2021b) Rearing enrichments differentially modified hen personality traits and reduced prediction of range use. Animal Behaviour 179:97-109. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ANBEHAV.2021.06.024
- Casey-Trott TM, Korver DR, Guerin MT, et al (2017) Animal well-being and behavior opportunities for exercise during pullet rearing, Part I: Effect on the musculoskeletal characteristics of pullets. Poultry Science 96:2509-2517. https://doi.org/10.3382/PS/PEX059
- Çavuşoğlu E, Petek M (2021) Effects of Season, Plumage Colour, and Transport Distance on Body Weight Loss, Dead-on-Arrival, and Reject Rate in Commercial End-of-Lay Hens. Animals 2021, Vol 11, Page 1827 11:1827. https://doi.org/10.3390/ANI11061827
- Chen D, Bao J, Meng F, Wei C (2014) Choice of perch characteristics by laying hens in cages with different group size and perching behaviours. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 150:37-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPLANIM.2013.10.007
- Chew JA, Widowski T, Herwig E, et al (2021) The Effect of Light Intensity, Strain, and Age on the Behavior, Jumping Frequency and Success, and Welfare of Egg-Strain Pullets Reared in Perchery Systems. Animals 2021, Vol 11, Page 3353 11:3353. https://doi.org/10.3390/ANI11123353
- Chielo LI, Pike T, Cooper J (2016) Ranging behaviour of commercial free-range laying hens. Animals 6:. https://doi.org/10.3390/ANI6050028
- Colson S, Arnould C, Michel V (2008) Influence of rearing conditions of pullets on space use and performance of hens placed in aviaries at the beginning of the laying period. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 111:286-300. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPLANIM.2007.06.012
- de Koning C, Barekatain R, Singh M, Drake K (2019) Saltbush (Atriplex nummularia and A. amnicola) as potential plants for free-range layer farms: consequences for layer performance, egg sensory qualities, and excreta moisture. Poult Sci 98:4555-4564. https://doi.org/10.3382/PS/PEZ294
- di Martino G, Capello K, Russo E, et al (2017) Factors associated with pre-slaughter mortality in turkeys and end of lay hens. Animal 11:2295-2300. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731117000970



- EFSA (2015) Scientific Opinion on welfare aspects of the use of perches for laying hens. EFSA Journal 13:. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2015.4131
- EFSA (2012) Statement on the use of animal-based measures to assess the welfare of animals. EFSA Journal 10:. https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2012.2767

EFSA (2004) Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Animal Health and Welfare (AHAW) on a request from the Commission related to welfare aspects of the main systems of stunning and killing the main commercial species of animals. EFSA Journal 2:. https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2004.45

EFSA (2019a) Killing for purposes other than slaughter: poultry. EFSA Journal 17:. https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2019.5850

EFSA (2019b) Slaughter of animals: poultry. EFSA Journal 17:. https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2019.5849

Erasmus MA, Lawlis P, Duncan IJH, Widowski TM (2010) Using time to insensibility and estimated time of death to evaluate a non penetrating captive bolt, cervical islocation, and blunt trauma for on-farm killing of turkeys. Poultry Science 89:1345-1354. https://doi.org/10.3382/PS.2009-00445

Farm Animal Welfare Council (2017) Opinion on the welfare of animals killed on-farm

FeatherWel (2022) Advice Guide Laying Hens: Feather cover

Frerichs C, Beaulac K, Crowe TG, Schwean-Lardner K (2021) The effects of simulated transport on the muscle characteristics of white-feathered end-of-cycle hens. Poultry Science 100:.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PSJ.2021.101280

Gentle M, Tilston V (2000) Nociceptors in the legs of poultry: implications for potential pain in pre-slaughter shackling. Animal Welfare 9:227-236

Gerpe C, Stratmann A, Bruckmaier R, Toscano MJ (2021) Examining the catching, carrying, and crating process during depopulation of end-of-lay hens. Journal of Applied Poultry Research 30:100115. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAPR.2020.100115

Giersberg MF, Spindler B, Kemper N (2019) Linear space requirements and perch use of conventional layer hybrids and dual-purpose hens in an aviary system. Frontiers in Veterinary Science 6:231. https://doi.org/10.3389/FVETS.2019.00231/BIBTEX

Glatz PC, Underwood G (2021) Current methods and techniques of beak trimming laying hens, welfare issues and alternative approaches. Animal Production Science 61:968-989. https://doi.org/10.1071/AN19673

Groves PJ, Underwood G, Groves PJ, Underwood G (2021) Impact of antibiotic use and disease risks on Australian laying hen welfare. Animal Production Science 61:1037-1041. https://doi.org/10.1071/AN19698

Hao H, Cheng G, Iqbal Z, et al (2014) Benefits and risks of antimicrobial use in food-producing animals. Frontiers in Microbiology 5:288. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2014.00288/BIBTEX

Heerkens JLT, Delezie E, Ampe B, et al (2016a) Ramps and hybrid effects on keel bone and foot pad disorders in modified aviaries for laying hens. Poultry Science 95:2479-2488. https://doi.org/10.3382/PS/PEW157

Heerkens JLT, Delezie E, Rodenburg TB, et al (2016b) Risk factors associated with keel bone and foot pad disorders in laying hens housed in aviary systems. Poultry Science 95:482-488. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pev339

Hemsworth PH, Edwards LE (2021) Natural behaviours, their drivers and their implications for laying hen welfare. Animal Production Science 61:915-930. https://doi.org/10.1071/AN19630

Humane Slaughter Association (2013) Practical Slaughter of Poultry

Humane Slaughter Association (2015) Electrical Waterbath Stunning of Poultry HSA Guidance Notes No 7

Jacobs L, Bourassa D v., Harris CE, Buhr RJ (2019) Euthanasia: Manual versus Mechanical Cervical Dislocation for Broilers. Animals: an Open Access Journal from MDPI 9:. https://doi.org/10.3390/ANI9020047

Janczak AM, Riber AB (2015) Review of rearing-related factors affecting the welfare of laying hens. Poultry Science 94:1454-1469. https://doi.org/10.3382/PS/PEV123

Jongman EC, Jongman EC (2021) Rearing conditions of laying hens and welfare during the laying phase. Animal Production Science 61:876-882. https://doi.org/10.1071/AN20236

Knoblock-Hahn A, Brown K, Medrow L (2016) A Balanced Approach to Understanding the Science of Antibiotics in Animal Agriculture. J Acad Nutr Diet 116:1332-1335. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAND.2016.03.017

Larsen H, Cronin G, Smith CL, et al (2017) Behaviour of free-range laying hens in distinct outdoor environments. Animal Welfare 26:255-264. https://doi.org/10.7120/09627286.26.3.255

Linares J, Dougherty S, Millman S (2018) Poultry welfare assessment on the farm: focusing on the individual.

Martin JE, Sandercock DA, Sandilands V, et al (2018) Welfare Risks of Repeated Application of On-Farm Killing Methods for Poultry. Animals : an Open Access Journal from MDPI 8:39. https://doi.org/10.3390/ANI8030039

Nagle TAD, Glatz PC (2012) Free range hens use the range more when the outdoor environment is enriched. Asian-Australas J Anim Sci 25:584-591. https://doi.org/10.5713/AJAS.2011.11051

National Animal Welfare Advisory Committee (2012) Animal Welfare (Layer Hens) Code of Welfare 2012 National Farm Animal Care Council (2016) Poultry (Layers) - Code of Practice for the Care and Handling of

Pullets and Laying Hens. https://www.nfacc.ca/codes-of-practice/pullets-and-laying-hens. Accessed 4 May 2022

Newberry RC, Estevez I, Keeling LJ (2001) Group size and perching behaviour in young domestic fowl. Appl Anim Behav Sci 73:117-129. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1591(01)00135-6

Nicol CJ, Caplen G, Davies AC, et al (2017) Farmed Bird Welfare Science Review



- Norman KI, Weeks CA, Pettersson IC, Nicol CJ (2018) The effect of experience of ramps at rear on the subsequent ability of layer pullets to negotiate a ramp transition. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 208:92-99. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPLANIM.2018.08.007
- Norman KI, Weeks CA, Tarlton JF, Nicol CJ (2021) Rearing experience with ramps improves specific learning and behaviour and welfare on a commercial laying farm. Scientific Reports 11:. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41598-021-88347-9

Office of the European Union (1999) Council Directive 1999/74/EC of 19 July 1999 laying down minimum standards for the protection of laying hens. Directorate-General for Health and Food Safety

- Office of the European Union (2009) COUNCIL REGULATION (EC) No 1099/2009. Off J Eur Union 1-30
- Petrik MT, Guerin MT, Widowski TM (2013) Keel fracture assessment of laying hens by palpation: inter-observer reliability and accuracy. Veterinary Record 173:500-500. https://doi.org/10.1136/VR.101934
- Pettersson IC, Weeks CA, Nicol CJ (2017a) The effect of ramp provision on the accessibility of the litter in single and multi-tier laying hen housing. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 186:35-40. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPLANIM.2016.10.012
- Pettersson IC, Weeks CA, Norman KI, Nicol CJ (2017b) The ability of laying pullets to negotiate two ramp designs as measured by bird preference and behaviour. PeerJ 2017:. https://doi.org/10.7717/PEERJ.4069/SUPP-1
- Pufall A, Harlander-Matauschek A, Hunniford M, Widowski TM (2021) Effects of Rearing Aviary Style and Genetic Strain on the Locomotion and Musculoskeletal Characteristics of Layer Pullets. Animals : an Open Access Journal from MDPI 11:1-20. https://doi.org/10.3390/ANI11030634
- Rana MS, Cohen-Barnhouse AM, Lee C, Campbell DLM (2021) Preference testing for UV light spectrum and intensity in laying hens. Poultry Science 100:101063. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PSJ.2021.101063
- Regmi P, Deland TS, Steibel JP, et al (2015) Effect of rearing environment on bone growth of pullets. Poultry Science 94:502-511. https://doi.org/10.3382/PS/PEU041
- Riber AB, Guzman DA (2017) Effects of different types of dark brooders on injurious pecking damage and production-related traits at rear and lay in layers. Poultry Science 96:3529-3538. https://doi.org/10.3382/PS/PEX177
- Riddle ER, Ali ABA, Campbell DLM, Siegford JM (2018) Space use by 4 strains of laying hens to perch, wing flap, dust bathe, stand and lie down. PLOS ONE 13:e0190532.
- https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0190532
- Rufener C, Makagon MM (2020) Keel bone fractures in laying hens: a systematic review of prevalence across age, housing systems, and strains. Journal of Animal Science 98:S36-S51. https://doi.org/10.1093/JAS/SKAA145
- Schreiter R, Damme K, von Borell E, et al (2019a) Effects of litter and additional enrichment elements on the occurrence of feather pecking in pullets and laying hens A focused review. Veterinary Medicine and Science 5:500-507. https://doi.org/10.1002/vms3.184
- Schreiter R, Damme K, von Borell E, et al (2019b) Effects of litter and additional enrichment elements on the occurrence of feather pecking in pullets and laying hens A focused review. Veterinary Medicine and Science 5:500-507. https://doi.org/10.1002/VMS3.184
- Scicutella F, Mannelli F, Daghio M, et al (2021) Polyphenols and Organic Acids as Alternatives to Antimicrobials in Poultry Rearing: A Review. Antibiotics 10:. https://doi.org/10.3390/ANTIBIOTICS10081010
- Sobotik EB, Nelson JR, Archer GS (2020) How does ultraviolet light affect layer production, fear, and stress. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 223:. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPLANIM.2019.104926
- Sparrey J, Sandercock DA, Sparks NHC, Sandilands V (2014) Current and novel methods for killing poultry individually on-farm. World's Poultry Science Journal 70:737-758. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0043933914000816
- Stiewert AM, Archer GS (2021) Comparing two captive bolt devices on market age Pekin ducks. Journal of Applied Poultry Research 30:100162. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAPR.2021.100162
- Stratmann A, Fröhlich EKF, Gebhardt-Henrich SG, et al (2015) Modification of aviary design reduces incidence of falls, collisions and keel bone damage in laying hens. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 165:112-123. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPLANIM.2015.01.012
- Thuy Diep A, Larsen H, Rault JL (2018) Behavioural repertoire of free-range laying hens indoors and outdoors, and in relation to distance from the shed. Australian Veterinary Journal 96:127-131. https://doi.org/10.1111/AVJ.12684
- Trott DJ, Veltman T, Jordan D, et al (2019) Antimicrobial resistance surveillance in Salmonella isolates from environments on Australian commercial egg farms
- van Staaveren N, Ellis J, Baes CF, Harlander-Matauschek A (2021) A meta-analysis on the effect of environmental enrichment on feather pecking and feather damage in laying hens. Poultry Science 100:397-411. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PSJ.2020.11.006
- Vecerkova L, Vecerek V, Voslarova E (2019) Welfare of end-of-lay hens transported for slaughter: effects of ambient temperature, season, and transport distance on transport-related mortality. Poultry Science 98:6217-6224. https://doi.org/10.3382/PS/PEZ468
- Weeks CA, Lambton SL, Williams AG (2016) Implications for welfare, productivity and sustainability of the variation in reported levels of mortality for laying hen flocks kept in different housing systems: A metaanalysis of ten studies. PLoS ONE 11:. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0146394



Wichman A, de Groot R, Håstad O, et al (2021) Influence of Different Light Spectrums on Behaviour and Welfare in Laying Hens. Animals : an Open Access Journal from MDPI 11:. https://doi.org/10.3390/ANI11040924

Widowski BS TM, Classen BSA H, Professor Pa, et al (2013) CODE OF PRACTICE FOR THE CARE AND HANDLING OF PULLETS, LAYERS, AND SPENT FOWL: POULTRY (LAYERS) REVIEW OF SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH ON PRIORITY ISSUES December 2013 Poultry (Layer) Code of Practice Scientific Committee Bernadette Cox Poultry (Layer) Code Development Committee Chair (ex-officio) Code of Practice for the Care and Handling of Poultry (Layers): Review of Scientific Research on Priority Welfare Issues

Widowski T, Torrey S (2017) Rearing young birds for adaptability. Advances in Poultry Welfare 49-76. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100915-4.00003-8

- Woolcott CR, Torrey S, Turner P v, et al (2018) Evaluation of Two Models of Non-Penetrating Captive Bolt Devices for On-Farm Euthanasia of Turkeys. Animals (Basel) 8:. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani8030042
- Zapf R, Schultheiß U, Knierim U, et al (2017) Assessing farm animal welfare Guidelines for on-farm selfassessment. Landtechnik 72:214-220. https://doi.org/10.15150/LT.2017.3166